FILED HARRISBURG, PA

JAN 0 8 2015

ARA

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

PRISON LEGAL NEWS, DANIEL
DENVIR, PHILADELPHIA CITY
PAPER, CHRISTOPHER MORAFF,
PENNSYLVANIA PRISON SOCIETY,
SOLITARY WATCH, PROFESSOR
REGINA AUSTIN, STEVEN
BLACKBURN, WAYNE JACOBS,
EDWIN DESAMOUR, and WILLIAM
COBB,

CIVIL ACTION

Plaintiffs,

No. 1:15-CU-45.

v.

KATHLEEN KANE, in her capacity as Attorney General of Pennsylvania, and R. SETH WILLIAMS, in his capacity as District Attorney of Philadelphia County,

Defendants.

VERIFIED COMPLAINT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

- On October 21, 2014, then-Pennsylvania Governor Tom Corbett signed into law a statute that violates the due process and First Amendment rights of a broad array of individuals and organizations.
- 2. Dubbed the "Revictimization Relief Act" by its sponsors, this unprecedented statute, 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304, is more accurately described as the "Silencing Act." Indeed, at its signing, the Act was referred to as a means "to keep people like the murderer Mumia Abu-Jamal silent."
- 3. While the Silencing Act was drafted in response to the graduating class of Goddard College's choice of Abu-Jamal as its commencement speaker, the Act's impact extends far beyond just Abu-Jamal. In fact, the Silencing Act permits courts to enjoin and penalize *any* speech or other conduct by an "offender" (undefined) that causes "mental anguish" to a personal injury crime "victim" (broadly defined) or otherwise "perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim" (not otherwise defined).
- Further, according to the legislative history, the Act applies to third parties who publish such speech.
- 5. Plaintiffs are eleven individuals and organizations ensuared by the Silencing Act's broad and vague sweep. Each engages in speech that it is in the public's interest to encourage, not silence. Seven of the eleven are third parties

who rely on and publish speech by individuals convicted of personal injury crimes, in order to inform the public and spur government action regarding issues of public concern. Those issues include wrongful convictions, prison conditions, penal policy, juvenile life without parole, and clemency. The other four Plaintiffs are individuals formerly incarcerated for personal injury crimes who share their own experiences with a wide range of audiences to help reduce crime and facilitate successful prisoner reentry.

- 6. To eliminate the threat the Silencing Act poses to them and so many others, Plaintiffs bring this action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, seeking a declaration that the Act is unconstitutional and an injunction against its enforcement. As demonstrated below, the Silencing Act is unconstitutional in at least four different ways:
- a. *First*, the Silencing Act is unconstitutionally vague, as a potential target can only guess what conduct—or even whose conduct—falls within the statute's scope.
- b. **Second**, the Silencing Act unconstitutionally regulates speech based on its content, without any compelling government interest as a justification.
- c. *Third*, the Silencing Act is unconstitutionally overbroad, as most, if not all, of its applications impermissibly restrict protected speech.

d. *Fourth*, the Silencing Act unconstitutionally authorizes courts to impose a prior restraint on speech—which, as the Supreme Court has observed, is the most serious and intolerable infringement on First Amendment rights.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

- 7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343 because this suit raises federal questions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.
- 8. Venue is proper in the Middle District of Pennsylvania under 28
 U.S.C. §§ 1391(a) and 1391(b), as a substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this District and Defendant Kane resides in this District.

THE PARTIES

9. Plaintiffs *Prison Legal News*, Daniel Denvir, *Philadelphia City Paper*, Christopher Moraff, Pennsylvania Prison Society, Solitary Watch, and Professor Regina Austin rely on and publish speech by individuals convicted of personal injury crimes (as defined for purposes of the Silencing Act) to convey information of public concern. *Prison Legal News*, the *City Paper*, the Prison Society's "Graterfriends" newsletter, and Solitary Watch are publications that feature content that is written by or quotes Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes. Denvir, a *City Paper* senior staff writer who focuses on criminal justice issues, and Moraff, a freelance criminal justice journalist, are both working on

long-term pieces that would feature interviews with and comments from
Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes. Professor Austin runs a
University of Pennsylvania Law School program that, to support clemency
applications of Pennsylvania prisoners, creates videos that contain oral or written
testimonials by the prisoners themselves. These seven organizations and
individuals all reasonably fear that the Silencing Act will be used to enjoin or
penalize their publication of offender speech and that the Act will chill offenders
from speaking with them—whether through interviews, written submissions, or
otherwise.

William Cobb were formerly incarcerated for personal injury crimes of which they were convicted in Philadelphia County—first-degree murder, involuntary manslaughter, third-degree murder, and kidnapping and robbery, respectively.

Since being released from prison, they have drawn on their personal experiences with the justice system to become community leaders working to reduce crime.

Through a combination of direct service and advocacy, they and the organizations they have founded and run have striven to help at-risk youth avoid lives of crime and to help those returning from prison reintegrate into their communities and avoid recidivism. Public speaking—through presentations, lectures, panel appearances, media interviews, legislative testimony, documentaries, and more—is

a key component of their efforts. Each of these four individuals reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used to enjoin or penalize such speech.¹

- 11. Defendant Kathleen Kane is the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is sued in her official capacity. Defendant Kane, as Attorney General, acts under color of state law and has the authority to file suit under the Silencing Act. *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304(b).
- 12. Defendant R. Seth Williams is the District Attorney of Philadelphia and is sued in his official capacity. Defendant Williams, as District Attorney, acts under color of state law and has the authority to file suit under the Silencing Act. See 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304(b).

THE SILENCING ACT'S BROAD AND UNCLEAR SWEEP

- 13. Signed into law on October 21, 2014, as an amendment to Pennsylvania's 1998 Crime Victims Act, the Silencing Act provides in full:
 - (a) ACTION.-- In addition to any other right of action and any other remedy provided by law, a victim of a personal injury crime may bring a civil action against an offender in any court of competent jurisdiction to obtain injunctive and other appropriate relief, including reasonable attorney fees and other costs associated with the litigation, for conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim.

¹ More fulsome descriptions of Plaintiffs and the Silencing Act's effect on them are at Paragraphs 47-150.

- (b) REDRESS ON BEHALF OF VICTIM.-- The district attorney of the county in which a personal injury crime took place or the Attorney General, after consulting with the district attorney, may institute a civil action against an offender for injunctive or other appropriate relief for conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim.
- (c) INJUNCTIVE RELIEF.-- Upon a showing of cause for the issuance of injunctive relief, a court may issue special, preliminary, permanent or any other injunctive relief as may be appropriate under this section.
- (d) DEFINITION.-- As used in this section, the term "conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim" includes conduct which causes a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish.

18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304.

- 14. As this reproduction of its entire text makes clear, the Silencing Act does not define the term "offender." Nor does the rest of the Crime Victims Act.
- 15. While the Silencing Act states that "the term 'conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim' includes conduct which causes a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish," both it and the rest of the Crime Victims Act are silent about what else "conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim" "includes."
- 16. The definitions section of the Crime Victims Act does contain three relevant definitions, which collectively broaden the scope of the Silencing Act beyond its plain language.

- 17. First, the Crime Victims Act defines "personal injury crime" as "[a]n act, attempt or threat to commit an act which would constitute a misdemeanor or felony" under the sections of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code relating to "criminal homicide," "assault," "kidnapping," "sexual offenses," "arson and related offenses," "robbery," "victim and witness intimidation," and various vehicular crimes resulting in death or bodily injury. 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.103.
- 18. Second, the Crime Victims Act defines "victim" to include all of the following:
 - (1) A direct victim.
 - (2) A parent or legal guardian of a child who is a direct victim, except when the parent or legal guardian of the child is the alleged offender.
 - (3) A minor child who is a material witness to any of the following crimes and offenses . . . committed or attempted against a member of the child's family: . . criminal homicide [,] aggravated assault[,] rape[.]
 - (4) A family member of a homicide victim, including stepbrothers or stepsisters, stepchildren, stepparents or a fiancé . . . except where the family member is the alleged offender.

Id.

19. Third, the Crime Victims Act defines "family," "when used in reference to an individual"—as in the fourth part of the "victim" definition—to encompass:

- (1) anyone related to that individual within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity;
- (2) anyone maintaining a common-law relationship with that individual; or
- (3) anyone residing in the same household with that individual.

Id.

20. An individual's spouse and the individual's or his or her spouse's children, parents, siblings, grandchildren, grandparents, nephews, nieces, uncles, aunts, great-grandchildren, and great-grandparents are all "within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity."

THE SILENCING ACT'S LIGHTNING-SPEED ENACTMENT

- 21. While many statutes are the product of months, if not years, of drafting, debate, hearings, negotiations, and revisions, the Silencing Act took only three weeks to progress from a legislator's idea to a ratified bill signed by the Governor.
- 22. On September 29, 2014, Goddard College, a small school in Vermont, announced that the undergraduate graduating class had selected Mumia Abu-Jamal, a Goddard alumnus, to be its commencement speaker. (Ex. 1 (Sept. 29, 2014 Goddard Press Release).)

- 23. According to the announcement, Prison Radio had already prerecorded Abu-Jamal's address, which would be played at the October 5 commencement ceremony. (*Id.*)
- 24. On September 30, after hearing the news, Maureen Faulkner—the widow of the police officer whom Abu-Jamal was convicted of murdering—told Fox News how upset it made her:

I am just absolutely outraged that they would have such a hate-filled murderer on as a commencement speaker. I mean, this man—he murdered my husband with malice and premeditation. He is evil. . . . And I still do not understand this justice system and why they are allowing him to speak.

(Ex. 2 (Sept. 30, 2014 Interview Transcript) at 2.)

- 25. On October 2, State Representative Mike Vereb, who was running for reelection to the Pennsylvania House at the time, introduced the Silencing Act.
- 26. Representative Vereb circulated a co-sponsor memo in which he stated that Mrs. Faulkner's situation was his motivation for the Silencing Act but that the law would affect far more than just her and Abu-Jamal:

A convicted murderer is still traumatizing the victim's family and it needs to stop. We need to ensure this doesn't happen to any other victim or their family. . . .

Officer Faulkner's wife Maureen was left a widow by Abu-Jamal. But not only did Maureen lose her husband and the life she hoped to lead with him, Maureen also since has been revictimized again and again by AbuJamal's ongoing acts. It is time to put a stop to this, not only for Maureen, but for all victims of personal crimes.

(Ex. 3 (Oct. 2, 2014 Co-Sponsor Memo).)

- 27. On October 5, Abu-Jamal's pre-recorded speech was played for the Goddard graduates. In his speech, Abu-Jamal did not mention his crime or Mrs. Faulkner. Instead, he reflected on his experience as a Goddard student and urged the graduates to "take what you know and apply it in the real world" and to "help be the change you're seeking to make." (Ex. 4 (Oct. 5, 2014 Commencement Speech Transcript).)
- 28. The House Judiciary Committee's October 6 session included less than fifteen minutes of discussion of the Silencing Act. (A video of the Judiciary Committee's session is at http://media2.pahousegop.com/Generator.asp? videoname=860041361.wmv.)
- 29. In his opening comments, the Committee Chairman explained that the bill related to Abu-Jamal's commencement address and stated that he could "not express his disdain enough" for Goddard's "unworthy" and "despicable" decision to "allow a cold-blooded murderer to engage in this conduct" that, in the Chairman's view, would cause "extreme distress" to Officer Faulkner's family.
- 30. But in the ensuing discussion, comments by the Committee Counsel highlighted the bill's broad—though not at all clear—reach beyond Abu-Jamal.

- 31. One representative asked if the law would affect a program in which prisoners speak to high schools to encourage students to stay on the right path and out of jail.
- 32. The Committee Counsel responded by emphasizing that the Silencing Act, by design, gives the court tremendous discretion in applying it:
 - The bill is constructed to give a lot of discretion to the judge here because there is not an ability to foresee all the different types of situations where something could come up where there is conduct by an offender, so it is designed as you read the language, only in those situations where it causes this kind of emotional distress to the victim . . . And also, it's not mandatory. The judge has to exercise his or her equitable discretion and to see whether this is a situation where an injunction is called for or that constitutionally is permissible and exercise their discretion to make sure to do that properly.
- 33. Then, when asked if the law would reach a third party who published offender speech, the Committee Counsel said that "the court would have broad power to stop a third party who is the vessel of that conduct or speech from delivering it or publishing that information."
- 34. At a press conference later that day, both Governor Corbett and Defendant and Philadelphia District Attorney Williams spoke enthusiastically in favor of the Silencing Act, lambasting Goddard and Abu-Jamal for causing Mrs. Faulkner pain but also highlighting the impact that the law could have on other

- victims. (A video of the press conference is at http://media2.pahousegop.com/ Generator.asp?videoname=402857958.wmv.)
- 35. Governor Corbett, who was up for reelection less that one month later, stressed that the law would "prevent convicted violent felons from every day revictimizing families and other injured parties by using public venues to promote themselves and their own agenda truly at the emotional expense of the victims and of the public."
- 36. Defendant Williams described the Silencing Act as "allow[ing] victims or prosecutors on behalf of a victim to stop their offenders from revictimizing them," pronounced that the law "is the least we can do for our victims," and told the assembled crowd, "[t]hank you for standing up, thank you for not forgetting about our victims."
- 37. State Senator John Rafferty—also in the midst of a reelection campaign—spoke, too, vowing to "make sure this bill gets through the Senate [with] quick passage and to the Governor for his signature."
- 38. Just over one week later, on October 15, 2014, the House passed the Silencing Act unanimously.
- On October 16, 2014, the Senate passed the Silencing Act—by a 37 vote.

- 40. Not a single change was made to the text of the Silencing Act between its introduction and its passage.
- 41. Governor Corbett then signed the Silencing Act into law on October 21, 2014, near the Philadelphia intersection where Officer Faulkner was murdered. (A video of the bill-signing ceremony is at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=e38fGnlGYs4&feature=youtu.be.)
- 42. As emcee of the bill-signing ceremony, the Commonwealth's Victim Advocate lauded the Silencing Act as "groundbreaking legislation that currently does not exist in any other state."
- 43. At the ceremony, Senator Rafferty did not mince words in describing what he saw as the Silencing Act's impact:

It will finally allow the families of crime victims or the crime victims themselves, if they are still with us, or the DA or the Attorney General to go to court to seek an injunction to prevent these rascals, these bad people, from becoming entertainment values here in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. . . .

This is important for Pennsylvania, for the City of Philadelphia, to allow us as a civilized society to say "no more, you've hurt us enough criminals, stay back where you belong, this is our country, this is our Commonwealth, let us go forward and heal."

44. Expressing a similar sentiment, Representative Vereb lamented that "[f]or too long, Pennsylvania has sat by and watched as victims like Maureen

Faulkner were victimized over and over again by low life criminals" and praised the law for standing up for "the victims" instead of "the villains."

THE SILENCING ACT'S IMPACT

- 45. Now that the Silencing Act has taken effect, the prospect of its enforcement—and the injunctive and monetary relief that the law authorizes—looms for thousands of implicated individuals and organizations.
 - 46. Eleven of them are Plaintiffs here.

Prison Legal News

- 47. Plaintiff *Prison Legal News* ("PLN"), a project of the non-profit Human Rights Defense Center, is a monthly magazine that reports on criminal justice issues and prison- and jail-related civil litigation, with an emphasis on prisoners' rights. Approximately 95% of PLN's content is written by current or former inmates.
- 48. PLN has published articles written by current and former Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia and elsewhere in Pennsylvania, including articles written by Mumia Abu-Jamal, who was convicted of Officer Faulkner's murder in Philadelphia.
- 49. Abu-Jamal recently submitted an article to PLN that PLN wants to publish, but it has not published the article yet due to the threat that the Silencing Act poses.

- 50. PLN cannot know in advance if the publication of an article by a person convicted of a personal injury crime will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular article.
- 51. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims—like Mrs. Faulkner—to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, PLN reasonably believes that at least some of the articles that it wants to publish will fall within the Act's scope.
- 52. PLN intends to continue to publish articles written by current and former Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia and elsewhere in Pennsylvania, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin it from, or penalize it for, publishing such articles.
- 53. PLN also reasonably fears that current and former Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will be chilled from submitting articles for publication due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.

54. PLN cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Daniel Denvir

- 55. Plaintiff Daniel Denvir is a senior staff writer at the *Philadelphia City*Paper. His reporting on a wide range of criminal justice issues has appeared in the

 City Paper, as well as The New Republic and The Atlantic's CityLab.
- 56. Denvir was a 2013 Guggenheim Reporting Fellow at John Jay College of Criminal Justice in New York City. The Reporting Fellowship is aimed at encouraging and promoting top-quality journalism on criminal justice.
- 57. In his criminal justice reporting, Denvir often relies on interviews with and comments from Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia.
- 58. For example, in 2013, Denvir wrote a series of articles in the *City*Paper about evidence suggesting that Pennsylvania inmates Eugene Gilyard and

 Lance Felder were innocent of the Philadelphia murder for which they had been convicted. Denvir interviewed Gilyard in prison for the series, and included comments from him in the articles.
- 59. The first article in the series prompted a key defense witness to come forward and testify at a Post-Conviction Relief Act hearing, after which the court

granted Gilyard and Felder a new trial. Defendant Williams then chose to drop the charges against Gilyard and Felder instead of retrying them, and the two are now free.

- 60. For his series on Gilyard and Felder, Denvir received the 2014 Public Service Award from the Association of Alternative Newsmedia.
- 61. Since his articles on Gilyard and Felder, Denvir has continued to investigate potential wrongful convictions of Pennsylvania inmates for personal injury crimes and wants to publish additional reporting on the subject in the near future that quotes from one or more Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes.
- 62. Denvir cannot know in advance if an article quoting a person convicted of a personal injury crime will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular article.
- 63. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Denvir reasonably believes that criminal justice reporting that he wants to publish in the future quoting

Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will fall within the Act's scope.

- 64. Denvir intends to continue to rely on and include in his criminal justice reporting interviews with and comments from Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia and elsewhere in Pennsylvania, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, publishing such reporting.
- 65. Denvir also reasonably fears that Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will be chilled from speaking with him in connection with his criminal justice reporting—be it about wrongful convictions, correctional officer abuse, sentencing policies, proposed legislation impacting inmates, or otherwise—due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.
- 66. Denvir cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Philadelphia City Paper

- 67. Plaintiff *Philadelphia City Paper* is a prize-winning and independent alternative weekly newspaper that publishes fresh perspectives on local news, arts, music, movies, and food.
- 68. The *City Paper* frequently features content on local criminal justice issues, which has often included interviews with or comments from Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia. For example, the *City Paper* published the series by Plaintiff Denvir described at Paragraphs 58-60 above, as well as a story on the community-building efforts of Plaintiffs Jacobs and Blackburn—both formerly incarcerated for personal injury crimes—that quoted the two men extensively.
- 69. The *City Paper* wants to publish future reporting by Denvir on his continuing investigation, as a *City Paper* employee, of potential wrongful convictions of Pennsylvania inmates for personal injury crimes.
- 70. The City Paper cannot know in advance if an article quoting a person convicted of a personal injury crime will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." See 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular article.

- 71. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, the *City Paper* reasonably believes that content that the *City Paper* wants to publishes in the future quoting Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will fall within the Act's scope.
- 72. The *City Paper* intends to continue to publish content that includes interviews with and comments from Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia and elsewhere in Pennsylvania, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin it from, or penalize it for, publishing such content.
- 73. The *City Paper* also reasonably fears that Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will be chilled from speaking with its reporters due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.
- 74. The *City Paper* cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.
- 75. The *City Paper* cannot afford to devote resources to the researching and writing of a long-term article only to ultimately be enjoined from publishing it.

76. The *City Paper* cannot afford to devote resources to the researching and writing of a long-term article only to have key sources chilled from speaking with its reporters due to the threat that the Silencing Act poses to them.

Christopher Moraff

- 77. Plaintiff Christopher Moraff is a freelance journalist whose reporting on a wide range of criminal justice issues has appeared in publications including *The Daily Beast, The Philadelphia Tribune, Philadelphia Magazine*, PennLive, *The Philadelphia Inquirer, In These Times, Next City, Al Jazeera America*, and *The American Prospect*.
- 78. Moraff is a 2014 Guggenheim Reporting Fellow at John Jay College of Criminal Justice in New York City. As discussed above, the Reporting Fellowship is aimed at encouraging and promoting top-quality journalism on criminal justice.
- 79. Moraff is currently working on two long-term articles entailing interviews with Pennsylvania inmates who have been convicted of personal injury crimes.
- 80. The first is an article that would put a human face on mandatory juvenile life without parole in Pennsylvania, by sharing the stories of several Pennsylvania inmates who are serving mandatory life sentences for personal injury crimes they committed as juveniles. One of the inmates whom Moraff has

identified as a potential subject for this article is Robert Holbrook, a Pennsylvania inmate convicted of a Philadelphia murder over twenty years ago. Holbrook, who has spoken publicly and with the press in the past about his experiences as a juvenile lifer, has said in a separate suit challenging the Silencing Act's constitutionality that the Act now chills his exercise of his right to speak about his experiences.

- 81. The second article is about the low percentage of clemency applications granted in Pennsylvania. For that article, Moraff is reviewing records from the hundreds of applications denied last year—again, with the goal of identifying several inmates to interview about their personal stories.
- 82. Moraff cannot know in advance if an article quoting a person convicted of a personal injury crime will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular article.
- 83. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Moraff reasonably believes that the articles on which he is working about juvenile life without parole and about denied clemency applications will fall within the Act's scope.

- 84. Moraff intends to continue to rely on and include in his criminal justice reporting interviews and comments from Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, publishing such reporting.
- 85. Moraff also reasonably fears that Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will be chilled from speaking with him about their experiences as juvenile lifers or as clemency applicants due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.
- 86. Moraff cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.
- 87. Moraff cannot afford to devote resources to researching and writing a long-term article only to ultimately be enjoined from publishing it.
- 88. Moraff cannot afford to devote resources to researching and writing a long-term article only to have key sources chilled from speaking with him due to the threat that the Silencing Act poses to them.

Pennsylvania Prison Society

- 89. Plaintiff Pennsylvania Prison Society is a nonprofit organization that advocates for a humane, just, and restorative correctional system and promotes a rational approach to criminal justice issues in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
- 90. As part of its mission to maintain communication between prisoners and the outside community, the Prison Society publishes "Graterfriends," a newsletter in which prisoners and non-prisoners voice their opinions and concerns about criminal justice issues.
- 91. Most articles submitted to and published in Graterfriends are by Pennsylvania inmates, many of whom have been convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania. The Prison Society reviews each submission it receives and retains the right to edit or reject any submission.
- 92. The Prison Society cannot know in advance if an article by a person convicted of a personal injury crime will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular article.
- 93. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, the Prison Society

reasonably believes that at least some of the articles it wants to publish in Graterfriends will fall within the Act's scope.

- 94. The Prison Society intends to continue to publish articles in Graterfriends written by Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia and elsewhere in Pennsylvania, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin it from, or penalize it for, publishing such articles.
- 95. The Prison Society also reasonably fears that Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will be chilled from submitting articles for publication in Graterfriends due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.
- 96. In fact, the Prison Society feels obliged to, and intends to, warn inmates of the injunctive and monetary threat that the Silencing Act poses, so that inmates can decide whether to submit articles for publication in Graterfriends in light of that threat.
- 97. The Prison Society cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Solitary Watch

- 98. Plaintiff Solitary Watch is a nonprofit web-based project aimed at bringing the widespread use of solitary confinement out of the shadows and into the light of the public square. It is the first centralized source of unfolding news, original reporting, first-hand accounts, and background research on solitary confinement in the United States.
- 99. The first-hand accounts of solitary confinement that Solitary Watch publishes are drawn from inmate letters.
- 100. Solitary Watch has received letters with first-hand accounts of solitary confinement from Pennsylvania inmates who have been convicted of personal injury crimes, and it has published some of those first-hand accounts.
- 101. Solitary Watch cannot know in advance if a first-hand account of solitary confinement by a person convicted of a personal injury crime will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." See 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular account.
- 102. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Solitary Watch reasonably

believes that at least some of the first-hand accounts of solitary confinement it wants to publish will fall within the Act's scope.

- 103. Solitary Watch intends to continue to publish first-hand accounts of solitary confinement by Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin it from, or penalize it for, publishing such accounts.
- 104. Solitary Watch also reasonably fears that Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes will be chilled from submitting accounts of their experiences in solitary confinement for publication due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.
- 105. Solitary Watch cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Professor Regina Austin

- 106. Plaintiff Regina Austin is the William A. Schnader Professor of Law at the University of Pennsylvania School of Law, where she directs a program called the Penn Program on Documentaries and the Law.
- 107. As part of the Documentaries and the Law program, Professor Austin and her students create videos to support the clemency applications of Pennsylvania inmates, including inmates convicted of personal injury crimes.

Clemency includes both pardons and commutations of sentences. A request for clemency is basically a plea for mercy.

- of remorse and rehabilitation, the videos that Professor Austin and her students help create generally include oral or written testimonials by applicants describing the details and circumstances of their crimes, describing the positive changes they have made in their lives since the time of their crimes, acknowledging responsibility for their crimes, and apologizing to the victims and survivors.
- 109. Indeed, Pennsylvania's clemency application requires applicants to "[s]tate the details of the crime(s) for which you are requesting a Pardon or Commutation," including by answering the questions "[w]here were you, what exactly did you do, and how were you apprehended?" The application emphasizes that "Applicant must complete in his/her own words!" Moreover, Pennsylvania requires that victims or next of kin be notified of clemency applications and given the opportunity to appear at the applicant's hearing.
- 110. Professor Austin cannot know in advance if a clemency video will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular video.

- 111. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Professor Austin reasonably believes that at least some of the clemency videos she wants to create and disseminate will fall within the Act's scope.
- 112. Professor Austin intends to continue working with her students to create videos featuring testimonials by Pennsylvania inmates seeking clemency who have been convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania, but she reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin her from, or penalize her for, creating or disseminating such videos.
- 113. Professor Austin also reasonably fears that Pennsylvania inmates convicted of personal injury crimes in Philadelphia or elsewhere in Pennsylvania will be chilled from speaking with her and using her video services in connection with their clemency applications, due to the risk that the Silencing Act would be used to enjoin or penalize their speech.
- 114. Professor Austin cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Steven Blackburn

- 115. In 1978, Plaintiff Steven Blackburn was convicted of first-degree murder in Philadelphia—a personal injury crime for purposes of the Silencing Act—and sentenced to life in prison.
- 116. Blackburn was pardoned by Pennsylvania Governor Robert Casey in1991, after serving sixteen years in prison.
- 117. In 2000, Blackburn co-founded X-Offenders for Community

 Empowerment, a nonprofit organization in Philadelphia with a mission to empower formerly incarcerated people to become change agents in mobilizing the community to reduce recidivism and address issues threatening healthy family and community life. Blackburn is currently the organization's board president.
- 118. As X-Offenders for Community Empowerment's co-founder and board president and as an individual who himself was incarcerated, Blackburn has frequently engaged in public speaking about prisoner reentry and other criminal justice issues. He has testified before the Pennsylvania legislature, is often invited to speak at universities, and has been interviewed by the *Philadelphia Daily News* and *Philadelphia City Paper*.
- 119. Blackburn cannot know in advance if an interview, legislative testimony, or other form of public speaking will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or

permanent state of mental anguish." See 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular speech.

- 120. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Blackburn reasonably believes that at least some of the public speaking in which he wants to engage will fall within the Act's scope.
- 121. Blackburn intends to continue to give media interviews, provide legislative testimony, and engage in other public speaking that furthers the mission of X-Offenders for Community Empowerment, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, doing so
- 122. Blackburn cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Wayne Jacobs

- 123. In 1995, Plaintiff Wayne Jacobs was convicted of involuntary manslaughter in Philadelphia—a personal injury crime for purposes of the Silencing Act—and sentenced to eleven to twenty-three months in prison.
 - 124. Jacobs was released from prison in 1997.

- 125. In 2000, Jacobs co-founded X-Offenders for Community

 Empowerment with Plaintiff Blackburn, the mission of which is described at

 Paragraph 117 above. He is currently the organization's executive director.
- 126. As X-Offenders for Community Empowerment's co-founder and executive director and as an individual who himself was incarcerated, Jacobs has frequently engaged in public speaking about issues related to crime, prisoner reentry, and recidivism. He has been interviewed by many Philadelphia-area media outlets, including the *Philadelphia Daily News* and *Philadelphia City Paper*.
- 127. Jacobs wants to run for the position of Philadelphia City Commissioner in 2015.
- other form of public speaking, or even the mere existence of his campaign for office, will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." See 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular speech or other conduct.
- 129. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech or other conduct by a person convicted of the crime, Jacobs

reasonably believes that at least some of the public speaking or conduct in which he wants to engage will fall within the Act's scope.

- 130. Jacobs intends to continue to give media interviews and engage in other public speaking that furthers the mission of X-Offenders for Community Empowerment and intends to run for public office in 2015, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, doing so.
- 131. Jacobs cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

Edwin Desamour

- 132. In 1991, when he was sixteen years old, Plaintiff Edwin Desamour was convicted of third-degree murder in Philadelphia—a personal injury crime for purposes of the Silencing Act—and sentenced to seven to twenty years in prison.
 - 133. Desamour was released from prison in 1997.
- 134. In 2007, Desamour founded Men in Motion in the Community ("MIMIC"), a nonprofit organization in Philadelphia with a mission to help highrisk youth, young adults, and formerly incarcerated men through mentoring, community engagement, and educational enrichment. Desamour is the organization's executive director.

- himself was convicted and incarcerated as a juvenile, Desamour has frequently engaged in public speaking about juvenile justice issues. He has been interviewed by national media, including CNN, ABC News, *The Washington Post*, and *USA Today*; has testified before the Pennsylvania legislature; and is featured in a documentary about juvenile justice to be released in 2016.
- 136. Desamour cannot know in advance if an interview, legislative testimony, or other form of public speaking will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." *See* 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular speech.
- 137. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Desamour reasonably believes that at least some of the public speaking in which he wants to engage will fall within the Act's scope.
- 138. Desamour intends to continue to give media interviews, provide legislative testimony, and engage in other public speaking that furthers MIMIC's mission and intends to appear in the upcoming documentary, but reasonably fears

that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, doing so.

139. Desamour cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

William Cobb

- 140. In 1994, Plaintiff William Cobb was convicted of robbery and kidnapping in Philadelphia—personal injury crimes for purposes of the Silencing Act—and sentenced to six-to-twelve years in prison.
 - 141. Cobb was released from prison in 2000.
- 142. Over the past ten years, Cobb has frequently engaged in public speaking about his crime, his years in prison, and the hardships that he has faced and tried to overcome as an individual with a criminal record.
- 143. Through this public speaking—at venues including schools, churches, prisons, and community-based organizations—Cobb has encouraged at risk youth and formerly incarcerated individuals to turn away from crime and violence and has advocated for the easing of employment barriers for people with criminal records.
- 144. For the past two years, Cobb has been writing a book about his crime, his years in prison, and the hardships that he has faced and tried to overcome as an

individual a criminal record. He is currently looking for an agent and shopping the book to publishers.

- 145. In addition, Cobb is launching a nonprofit organization called "Redeemed," the mission of which is to eliminate—through education, advocacy, and activism—systemic employment discrimination practices aimed at people living with arrests and convictions. Redeemed's success depends on Cobb sharing his own personal experiences with crime and the employment obstacles that a criminal record often brings with it.
- part of his book will be held to "perpetuate[] the continuing effect of the crime on the victim," such as by "caus[ing] a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish." See 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304. It all depends on the reaction of the particular "victim" to the particular speech or part of his book.
- 147. But given the broad definition of personal injury crime "victim" for Silencing Act purposes, and given the natural sensitivity of many such victims to learning of speech by a person convicted of the crime, Cobb reasonably believes that at least some of the public speaking in which he wants to engage and at least some of his book will fall within the Act's scope.
- 148. Cobb intends to continue to engage in public speaking that furthers Redeemed's mission and that encourages others to turn away from crime and

violence, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used in an effort to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, doing so.

- 149. In addition, Cobb intends to continue to work on his book about his personal experiences, but reasonably fears that the Silencing Act will be used to enjoin him from, or penalize him for, publishing it.
- 150. Cobb cannot afford to devote resources to defending against Silencing Act lawsuits or to paying awards of attorneys' fees, court costs, or damages under the Act.

CLAIMS

Count I:

Impermissible Vagueness, in Violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteen Amendment to the United States Constitution and in Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution

(42 U.S.C. § 1983)

- 151. All preceding paragraphs in this Complaint are incorporated here.
- 152. The Silencing Act is impermissibly vague, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause and the First Amendment, because it raises and leaves unanswered crucial questions about what speech and other conduct—and even whose conduct—it actually reaches.
- 153. First, it is impossible for those subject to the Silencing Act to know before engaging in speech or other conduct whether the statute would proscribe or penalize it. What will cause a "victim"—broadly defined for Silencing Act

purposes—mental anguish all depends on that particular victim's sensibilities.

Further, the Silencing Act provides that "conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim' *includes* 'conduct which causes a temporary or permanent state of mental anguish," 18 P.S. § 11.1304(d) (emphasis added), but gives no guidance about what else "conduct which perpetuates the continuing effect of the crime on the victim" includes.

- other section of the Crime Victims Act—the statute to which the Silencing Act is an amendment. Therefore, it is unclear whether "offender" status for Silencing Act purposes requires conviction, incarceration, or merely proof of criminal conduct by a preponderance of the evidence in a civil action under the law.
- 155. Third, it is also unclear whether the Silencing Act permits the injunction of a third party's publication of offender speech. The statute itself only speaks explicitly of an action against an offender, but, as discussed above, at the House Judiciary Committee hearing on the law, the Committee Counsel stated that "the court would have broad power to stop a third party who is the vessel of that . . . conduct or speech from delivering or publishing that information." Indeed, it was a third party that pre-recorded Abu-Jamal's commencement address—even before Goddard announced that Abu-Jamal would be the commencement speaker—and then broadcast it to the students at Goddard.

- 156. The Silencing Act and the threat of Defendants' enforcement of it, under color of state law, are therefore depriving Plaintiffs of rights secured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and by the First Amendment, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment.
- 157. This constitutional violation is causing Plaintiffs irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law.

Count II:

Impermissible Content-Based Speech Restriction, in Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution (42 U.S.C. § 1983)

- 158. All preceding paragraphs in this Complaint are incorporated here.
- 159. Because the Silencing Act provides for injunctions and monetary relief based upon the reactions of victims and their families to offenders' speech, the statute's regulation of speech is content-based.
- 160. No compelling interest justifies the Silencing Act's content-based regulation of speech—let alone a compelling interest that the Act is narrowly tailored to serve.
- 161. The Silencing Act thus fails under a strict scrutiny analysis and violates the First Amendment.
- 162. The Silencing Act and the threat of Defendants' enforcement of it, under color of state law, are therefore depriving Plaintiffs of rights secured by the First Amendment, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment.

163. This constitutional violation is causing Plaintiffs irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law.

Count III:

Impermissible Overbreadth, in Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution (42 U.S.C. § 1983)

- 164. All preceding paragraphs in this Complaint are incorporated here.
- 165. The Silencing Act is impermissibly overbroad, in violation of the First Amendment, because a substantial number of its applications prohibit or penalize constitutionally protected speech, judged in relation to its non-existent legitimate sweep.
- 166. In fact, because of the extraordinary range of offender speech that could cause a victim mental anguish, the Silencing Act could be used to prohibit or penalize any of the following—by an offender him- or herself, or by an offender via a third party:
 - Filing a direct appeal from a conviction or sentence;
 - b. Filing a habeas petition or pardon application;
 - c. Publicly claiming to be innocent;
- d. Confessing or apologizing to a victim or doing so publicly to society in general;

- e. Advocating for improved prison conditions, criminal or juvenile justice reform, or the easing of employment barriers for people with criminal records;
- f. Sharing the offender's story with at-risk youth to encourage them to stay in school and avoid a life of crime; or
- g. Giving a public speech or publishing a poem, book, or article—about any topic whatsoever.
- 167. The Silencing Act and the threat of Defendants' enforcement of it, under color of state law, are therefore depriving Plaintiffs of rights secured by the First Amendment, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment.
- 168. This constitutional violation is causing Plaintiffs irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law.

Count IV:

Impermissible Authorization of Prior Restraints, in Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution (42 U.S.C. § 1983)

- 169. All preceding paragraphs in this Complaint are incorporated here.
- 170. The Silencing Act authorizes courts to impose prior restraints on offender speech.
- 171. No sufficiently weighty justification supports the Silencing Act's authorization of prior restraints.

- 172. The Silencing Act's authorization of prior restraints thus violates the First Amendment.
- 173. The Silencing Act and the threat of Defendants' enforcement of it, under color of state law, are therefore depriving Plaintiffs of rights secured by the First Amendment, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment.
- 174. This constitutional violation is causing Plaintiffs irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

- 1. Enter a declaratory judgment that 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 violates the

 Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

 Constitution and violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, because it is impermissibly vague;
- 2. Enter a declaratory judgment that 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, because it restricts speech based on content and is not justified by any compelling government interest that it is narrowly tailored to serve;

- 3. Enter a declaratory judgment that 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, because it is impermissibly overbroad;
- 4. Enter a declaratory judgment that 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, because it is impermissibly authorizes the imposition of prior restraints;
- Enter injunctive relief—preliminary and permanent thereafter—enjoining Defendants from enforcing 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304;
- 6. Award costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and
 - 7. Enter all further relief to which Plaintiffs may be justly entitled.

Date: January 8, 2015

Respectfully submitted,

Amy B. Ginensky (PA 26233)*

Eli Segal (PA 205845)*

PEPPER HAMILTON LLP

3000 Two Logan Square

18th & Arch Streets

Philadelphia, PA 19103

(215) 981-4000

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Thomas B. Schmidt, III (PA 19196)
Tucker R. Hull (PA 306426)
PEPPER HAMILTON LLP
100 Market Street, Suite 200
Harrisburg, PA 17108-1181
(717) 255-1155
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Witold J. Walczak (PA 62976)
Sara J. Rose (PA 204936)
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES
FOUNDATION OF PENNSYLVANIA
313 Atwood Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15213
(412) 681-7864
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Seth F. Kreimer (PA 26102) 3400 Chestnut Street Philadelphia, PA 19104 (215) 898-7447 Attorney for Plaintiffs

Lance Weber (FL 104550)*
Sabarish Neelakanta (FL 26623)*
HUMAN RIGHTS DEFENSE CENTER
PO Box 1151
Lake Worth, FL 33460
(561) 360-2523
Attorneys for Plaintiff Prison Legal News

*pro hac vice application to be submitted

I, Paul Wright, am the Editor of *Prison Legal News* and am authorized to execute this Verification on its behalf. I have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to *Prison Legal News* specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on January 6, 2015

Paul Wright

I, Daniel Denvir, have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on 1-6-15

Daniel Denvir

I, Lillian Swanson, am Editor in Chief of the *Philadelphia City Paper* and am authorized to execute this Verification on its behalf. I have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to the *Philadelphia City Paper* specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on 1 7 15

Lillian Swanson

I, Christopher Moraff, have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of

my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on 1613

Christopher Moraff

I, Ann Schwartzman, am the Executive Director of the Pennsylvania Prison Society and am authorized to execute this Verification on its behalf. I have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to the Pennsylvania Prison Society specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on 1/6/15

Ann Schwartzman

I, Jean Casella, am Co-Director of Solitary Watch and am authorized to execute this Verification on its behalf. I have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to Solitary Watch specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the Executed on __anuay 6, 2015

Mulum

Jean Casella best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

I, Professor Regina Austin, have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on 1/6/2015

Professor Regina Austin

I, Steven Blackburn, have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Steven Blackburn

I, Wayne Jacobs, have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on January 6, 2015

/s/ Wayne Jacobs Wayne Jacobs

I, Edwin Desamour, have read the foregoing Verified Complain and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on January 6, 2015

/s/ Edwin Desamour Edwin Desamour

I, William Cobb, have read the foregoing Verified Complaint and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, verify under penalty of perjury that the facts stated therein that relate to me specifically or that relate to 18 Pa. C.S. § 11.1304 in general are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Executed on Juniary (0, 2015

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit

- Goddard College September 29, 2014 press release entitled, Mumia Abu-Jamal to Give Commencement Speech at Goddard College
- 2 Transcript from Fox News "Kelly File," September 30, 2014 airing of Widow, college react to convicted cop killer giving commencement speech
- Memorandum from Representative Mike Vereb to All House members, dated October 2, 2014, regarding Cosponsor Request – Revictimization Relief Act
- Transcript of Mumia Abu-Jamal's Goddard College Commencement Speech recorded by Prison Radio, dated October 5th, 2014



EXHIBIT 1





» Inquire About Programs

» Scholarships

» Apply Now

Home » News & Events » Press Releases » Mumia Abu-Jamal to Give Commencement Speech at Goddard College

September 29, 2014

NEXT STEPS

Contact:

APPLY NOW

Samantha Kolber

Communications Manager

802.322.1724 | samantha.kolber@goddard.edu

REQUEST INFO

Mumia Abu-Jamal to Give Commencement Speech at Goddard College

Inmate Journalist and Goddard Graduate to Address Newest Class of Radical Thinkers

FINISH YOUR APPLICATION Plainfield, Vt. -- Goddard College announced today that Mumia Abu-Jamal, an American prisoner, author, and journalist who received his Bachelor of Arts from Goddard in 1996, was selected by the students of the Undergraduate Program's Fall 2014 graduating class to be their commencement speaker this Sunday, October 5.

SCHOLARSHIPS

Abu-Jamal was convicted in the 1981 murder of Philadelphia police officer Daniel Faulkner. His original death sentence handed down at his trial in 1982 was commuted to life imprisonment without parole in 2011. He was then transferred from death row to the Mahanoy State Correctional Institution in Frackville, Pa., where he resides today.

FINANCIAL AID

Abu-Jamal's commencement remarks were prerecorded by Director of Prison Radio Noelle Hanrahan and will be played alongside a short slideshow created by director and filmmaker Stephen Vittoria, whose documentary "Long Distance Revolutionary: A Journey with Mumia Abu-Jamal" was released in 2012.

GET THE LATEST **GODDARD NEWS** EVERY MONTH

Goddard College holds twenty commencement ceremonies each year, allowing for students in each degree program to personalize their graduation experience.

VIEW THIS MONTH'S E-NEWSLETTER

"As a reflection of Goddard's individualized and transformational educational model, our commencements are intimate affairs where each student serves as her or his own valedictorian, and each class chooses its own speaker," said Goddard College Interim President Bob Kenny. "Choosing Mumia as their commencement speaker, to me, shows how this newest group of Goddard graduates expresses their freedom to engage and think radically and critically in a world that often sets up barriers to do just that," he said.

Twenty out of twenty-three students receiving their Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Fine Arts will graduate in the commencement ceremony featuring Abu-Jamal's speech at the Haybarn Theatre at Goddard College, located at 123 Pitkin Road in Plainfield, Vt., at 4:00 p.m. on Sunday, October 5.

####

About Goddard College

Initially founded in 1863 as the Goddard Seminary in Barre, Vt., Goddard College moved to its current Plainfield campus and was chartered in 1938 by founding President Royce "Tim" Pitkin, In 1963, Goddard became the first U.S. college to offer low-residency adult degree programs, and now offers accredited MA, MFA, BA, and BFA degree programs from the main campus in Plainfield, and sites in Seattle and Port Townsend, Wash. Goddard's intensive, low-residency model offers the best of on-campus and distance education, with experienced faculty advisors, rigorous campus residencies, and the freedom to study from anywhere. More at goddard.edu.

LEARN MORE

News & Events

- WGDR Community Radio
- Goddard Blogs
- Goddard College Concerts
- >> Events Calendar



Ruth Ozeki Reading Wednesday, January 7, 7:00 pm Plainfield, VT



Nature Artists' Showcase Thursday, January



Charlie Bondhus Poetry Reading Friday, January 9, 7:00 pm Plainfield, VT



View All Events

FFATURED VIDEO



Holocaust Survivor Honored At Goddard College

TRANSLATE THIS PAGE Select Language $|\mathbf{v}|$ Powered by Google Translate

Academics Admissions About Goddard News & Events People Site Map © 2012 Goddard College | 123 Pitkin Road Plainfield, Vermont 05667 | 800-468-4888



Exhibit 2

Exhibit 2

LOGIN

MENU

Search foxnews.com



- WATCH LIVE -

OBAMA SPEAKS ABOUT JOBS, MANUFACTURING IN MICHIGAN

Launch Live Player

KELLY FILE

Widow, college react to convicted cop killer giving commencement speech

Published October 01, 2014 FoxNews.com 32

4

NOW PLAYING
Convicted cop killer to give college commencement speech

Never autoplay videos

This is a rush transcript from "The Kelly File," September 30, 2014. This copy may not be in its final form and may be updated.

MEGYN KELLY, HOST: Controversy on a college campus after students selects a convicted cop killer as their graduation speaker.

Mumia Abu-Jamal has spent decades behind bars for murdering 25-year-old police officer Daniel Faulkner. In moments, we will hear from his Daniel's widow as well as a school representative.

But first, Trace Gallagher reports from our West Coast newsroom. Trace.

TRACE GALLAGHER, LOS ANGELES: Megyn, it was during a traffic stop in December of 1981, Philadelphia police officer Daniel Faulkner was shot in the back by Wesley Cook, now known as Mumia Abu-Jamal. Faulkner fired back striking Abu-Jamal, but as the officer lie wounded, three witnesses testified that Abu-Jamal walked over to Faulkner and fired four shots point blank. Abu-Jamal was arrested wearing a shoulder holster. The weapon with five spent cartridges was by his side.

He was convicted by a jury of 10 whites and two blacks, the same jury sentenced him to death. Abu-Jamal became one of the world's most famous death row inmates with supporters claiming he was innocent. The court of appeals and the U.S. Supreme Court begged to differ, upholding his conviction, though his death sentence was eventually vacated because the jury was improperly instructed.

He now is spending the rest of his life in prison, Megyn.

KELLY: Trace, thank you. Joining us now, Maureen Faulkner, whose husband Daniel was just 25-years-old when he was shot repeatedly at close range by Mumia. And a Dustin Byerly, associated director of advancement and alumni affairs at Goddard College, he is also a Goddard graduate. But we begin with Maureen. Maureen, your reaction to this invitation.

MAUREEN FAULKNER, WIDOW OF POLICE OFFICER DANIEL FAULKNER: Megyn, I am just absolutely outraged that they would have such a hate-filled murderer on as a commencement speaker.

I mean, this man -- he murdered my husband with malice and premeditation. He is evil. What does he have to offer on any commencement of any kind of enrichment with these people, young people --

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: I'll tell you what the school says. The school says he's an award winning journalist who chronicles the human condition. Then they mention that he was a resident of death row for 29 years before being moved into gen pop. But he hosts the nationally syndicated prison radio show and his murder trial has been the subject of great debate. Maureen.

FAULKNER: Well, all I can say is he is a murderer and he should not -- he lost his voice when he put a bullet between my husband's eyes. And I still do not understand this justice system and why they are allowing him to speak. They are saying it's his constitutional right? And from what I understand, the Justice Department is actually -- in Pennsylvania, the DOJ in Pennsylvania are saying they are so sorry that, you know, this college is allowing him to speak. Why doesn't the justice system say he's not able to speak? I was told back in 2011 --

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: These graduates want to celebrate their commencement from college by listening to a man who killed -- who gunned down your 25-year-old husband like an animal.

FAULKNER: Not to mention that he graduated from that college in 1996 and got his bachelor's degree.

KELLY: Mumia Abu-Jamal did.

FAULKNER: Yeah. While he was on death row.

KELLY: Did Daniel ever graduate from college?

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: Was he able to graduate?

FAULKNER: My husband was in community college. He was getting ready to graduate with his bachelor's degree when Mumia put a bullet into his back and then between his eyes. But does anyone talk about that? No.

KELLY: Unbelievable, Maureen.

FAULKNER: This is what's wrong with our society, Megyn. You know, there's a saying and it says all that is necessary for the triumph of evil is that good men do nothing. And that's why we must speak out on our discontent on this murder speaking at this commencement.

KELLY: Understood. Maureen Faulkner, thank you, ma'am.

FAULKNER: Thank you.

KELLY: I want to bring in Dustin Byerly who is with Goddard College and helps as a liaison with the students.

Dustin, your reaction? Can you understand how she feels?

DUSTIN BYERLY, GODDARD COLLEGE GRADUATE: Thanks for having me on the show, Megyn.

Yes, I spoke with Ms. Faulkner this morning and we had a polite dialogue and talked about this for quite a while. What I would say is that Goddard College's approach to education is always started with the individual. We have an individualized approach to education, so when a student comes to the college we ask them what they're interested in, what they are passionate about, what they want to study and we help them.

KELLY: All right, all right, all right. I get it. I realize it's a strange institution. They promote radicalism. They say every graduate is a valedictorian. That's right off the website -- it's one of those places. But you heard what she said. This man who you guys are having on your college voice as your commencement speaker put a bullet in between the eyes of a police officer.

BYERLY: I understand your point, and it's a valid point. Our graduating students had decided that they wanted Mumia to be their commencement speaker at this graduation. It's the college's policy that we don't oppose.

KELLY: Why?

BYERLY: Because that's our policy as a college that advocates for complicated dialogue around complex issues.

KELLY: What dialogue is there going to be? Who is going to represent Maureen's side?

BYERLY: I mean, I think the dialogue is taking place right now. It's been taking place all day. It is taking place all across the country.

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: Where? Where else? Where else besides Fox News?

BYERLY: I've been fielding requests all day from the press and I've been talking about people all day on both sides of the fence and the issues of race and race relations, and how we deal with our population.

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: It's not about race relations, it's about cop killing, and whether that man who was sentenced -- he was sentenced to death, he got off death row on a technicality, now he is serving a life prison, has the right to have this sort of a pulpit to talk about revolution -- this is what he said in another speech he gave recently -- and talk about how he believes yet again that the police -- let me get it -- white juries are still sending blacks to prison and cops are still treating black life as a cheap commodity. He is the one who treated life as a cheap commodity. He is.

BYERLY: That may be your opinion. That's the opinion of many people.

KELLY: Including the jury and the Supreme Court.

BYERLY: There are people on both sides. Obviously, there are supporters and detractors. It's not my position nor the college's position to take a side either way.

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: Take a side? The law has spoken. The jury has spoken. The Supreme Court has spoken.

BYERLY: And that doesn't remove the students' right to select their own commencement speaker and hear what he has to say.

KELLY: No one is arguing the right. I'm looking for the reason. Reason.

BYERLY: The reason is that the graduating students believe that Mumia has a message coming from prison from a unique perspective and speaks to issues that are important to them that are important in a world where we have Ferguson, where we have police brutality, where these issues are real and in their lives that they want to discuss --

(CROSSTALK)

KELLY: Dustin, I appreciate you coming on. Thank you for being here.

BYERLY: Thank you so much, Megyn.

Content and Programming Copyright 2014 Fox News Network, LLC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. Copyright 2014 CQ-Roll Call, Inc. All materials herein are protected by United States copyright law and may not be reproduced, distributed, transmitted, displayed, published or broadcast without the prior written permission of CQ-Roll Call. You may not alter or remove any trademark, copyright or other notice from copies of the content.

The Kelly File, hosted by Megyn Kelly, airs on Weekdays at 9PM ET on Fox News Channel.

More on this show

Sponsored Stories

An Extremely Brilliant Way To Pay Off Mortgage (Bills.com)

4 Surgeries to Avoid (AARP)

Photos: A Grandpa Left a Trunk Behind For His Family - What's Inside is Incredible (Viral Nova)

This New App is Replacing Human Financial Advisors (PC Magazine)

 $\textbf{6 Shocking Facts About Bonnie and Clyde} \; \textit{(Ancestry)} \\$

8 Signs of Disease That Are Written All Over Your Face (Reader's Digest)

More from Fox News

At least 12 dead in Islamist terror attack at satirical French publication (Fox News World)

Robin Thicke's girlfriend reportedly too young to party with him on NYE (Fox News Entertainment)

Sugar is making us very sick, researchers warn (Fox News Health)

Man gets 26 years to life in fatal shooting of girl, 5, sitting in parked vehicle with mom (Fox News U.S.)

NYPD cop wounded in Bronx shooting reportedly unhappy at de Blasio visit (Fox News U.S.)

Time capsule dating to 1795 included coins, newspapers (Fox News U.S.)

Recommended by

Watch now...



Naked woman rescued from exboyfriend's chimney



A new veggie for a healthy new vear



Forget calories! Is chemistry the secret to weight loss?

Sections

Home
Video
Politics
U.S.
Opinion
Entertainment
Tech
Science
Health
Travel
Lifestyle
World
Sports
Weather

On Air

Tools

Live Video
Trending
uReport
Newsletters
Alerts
Blogs
Mobile
Podcasts
Radio
Fox News Store
Apps & Downloads

About

Careers
College Students
Fox Around the World
Advertise With Us
Terms of Use
Privacy Policy
Ad Choices
Contact Us
Email Newsroom
FAQ
Media Relations
Closed Captioning Policy

Follow

Facebook Twitter Google+ LinkedIn RSS Newsletters

This material may not be published, broadcast, rewritten, or redistributed. ©2015 FOX News Network, LLC. All rights reserved. All market data delayed 20 minutes. Privacy - Terms - FAQ

Exhibit 3

MEMORANDUM

Posted: October 2, 2014 04:12 PM **From:** Representative Mike Vereb

To: All House members

Subject: Cosponsor Request - Revictimization Relief Act

A convicted murderer is still traumatizing the victim's family and it needs to stop. We need to ensure this doesn't happen to any other victim or their family.

As a former police officer whose partner nearly died in my arms, I can personally relate to this tragedy.

I'm sure you all recently heard the news that convicted cop killer Mumia Abu-Jamal plans to give a commencement speech at a college in Vermont. I am utterly outraged that such a reprehensible person would be able to revictimize Officer Daniel Faulkner's family with this kind of self-promoting behavior. I am asking your support for a bill, the Revictimization Relief Act, that would put an end to this kind of shameful misconduct.

Officer Faulkner's wife Maureen was left a widow by Abu-Jamal. But not only did Maureen lose her husband and the life she hoped to lead with him, Maureen also since has been revictimized again and again by Abu-Jamal's ongoing acts. It is time to put a stop to this, not only for Maureen, but for all victims of personal crimes. That is why I am today proposing we add to the Crime Victims Act a provision for "Revictimization Relief." It would allow the victim of a crime, or a district attorney or the Attorney General on the victim's behalf, to bring a civil action to stop an offender's misconduct which causes the victim or the victim's family severe mental anguish. The courts would then have the power to issue an order stopping the revictimization.

How often does the victim of a crime have to be victimized again before it is considered enough? I ask that you join me in this effort. I plan to participate in a press conference Monday, October 6 at 3:30pm in the Main Rotunda. I have invited Jennifer Storm, the state's Victim Advocate, Mrs. Faulkner via satellite, and by virtue of this memo, all of you and members of the State Senate.

Standing together, we can make a difference and show victims and families, Pennsylvania does not condone the actions of murderers.

Please contact Julianne Naccarato in my capitol office with questions regarding this Revictimization Relief Act 717-705-7164.

FACTS OF THE CASE:

Here are the facts of the case, verified in Court.

On December 9, 1981, at approximately 3:55 a.m., Philadelphia Police Officer Daniel Faulkner joined the

ranks of those courageous officers who have given their lives to keep our nation's streets safe and free. Officer Faulkner, a five year veteran of the Philadelphia Police Department, made a traffic stop at Locust Street near Twelfth Street. After making the stop, Officer Faulkner called for assistance on his police radio and requested a police wagon to transport a prisoner. Unbeknownst to him, the driver's brother, Mumia Abu-Jamal was across the street. As Officer Faulkner attempted to handcuff William Cook, Mumia Abu-Jamal ran from across the street and shot the officer in the back in cold blood. Officer Faulkner turned and was able to fire one shot that struck Abu-Jamal in the chest; the wounded officer then fell to the pavement. Mumia Abu-Jamal then stood over the downed officer and shot at him four more times at close range, striking him once directly in the face. Mumia Abu-Jamal was found still at the scene of the shooting by officers who arrived there within seconds. The murderer was slumped against the curb in front of his brother's car. In his possession was a .38 caliber revolver that records showed Mumia had purchased months earlier. The chamber of the gun had five spent cartridges. Eyewitnesses to the brutal slaying identified Mumia Abu-Jamal as the killer both at the scene and during his trial included a cab driver, as well as other pedestrians.

Exhibit 4

Transcript of Mumia Abu-Jamal's Goddard College Commencement Speech

Recorded by Prison Radio

October 5th, 2014

Dear Fellow Goddard-ites, Students, Graduates, Parents, Professors:

I thank you for your kind invitation to join you in voice today. I've been away from Goddard College perhaps longer than most of you have been alive.

I last walked on campus during the late 70's. But although it was undoubtedly quite a long time ago, it still sits in memory, and sometimes even visits in dreams of the funky atmosphere that suffused the campus like a cloud of exhaled marijuana smoke. What really moved me however, was the green life, the abundance of grass, trees standing like ancient sentinels. The majestic mountains of Vermont which possessed a beauty that was, to a guy from the city, simply breathtaking. I remember with crystal clarity walking through woods back to our dorms, Third World Studies, and feeling pure rapture in the presence of those trees. How many centuries had those trees stood on this earth? My mind looked back to Indians who must've trod through these very same woods; my steps touching the ground that once crunched under their moccasined feet. Not only have these surviving remnants of their once great numbers been vanished from the land of their fathers, but the reverence with which they held these lands, their collective embrace of Mother Earth, has been vanished as well.

That living immensity, more sacred than anything built by man, has never left me and rises up like a phoenix whenever I think of the campus. But of course what really matters here is not my experience, but yours. This is your commencement and as such, I will dwell on the world that you are about to enter into – in habit, and true to Goddard's founding ideals, hopefully transform.

As we all know Goddard is rightfully famous for its non-traditional teaching methods focus. Here students stand at the center of the educational endeavor and they are urged and expected to follow that vibe in their hearts. That which gives them passion to determine not just what they will study, but how those studies can have impact and meaning in the larger society - Y'know, this aint a cookie cutter school. Goddard, deeply influenced by the ideas of John Dewey (1859- 1952), strives to reach that happy and singular medium between the teacher and the taught. With one exploring with the other how best to achieve a meaningful resolution to questions that arise in the life of the mind. Quoting Dewey: "Education is not preparation for Life. It is Life itself."

Dear graduates, never have words such as these been truer to the hour that is upon us. For the nation is in deep trouble - largely because old thinking both domestically, and globally, has led us into the morass that the nation now faces. Which may be encapsulated by references to place names that ring in our minds: Gaza, Ferguson, and Iraq - again! These are some of the challenges that abide in the world, which it will be your destiny to try to analyze and resolve. As students of Goddard you know that these challenges are not easy, but they must be faced and addressed.

The Brazilian scholar Paulo Freire, and his groundbreaking *Pedagogy of the Oppressed* posits the power of literacy to transform psychology, to deepen and broaden ones place in the world. Moreover, when one seeks to interrogate ones radical beliefs, it draws one deeper into contact with the meaning of social change and social transformation. One is changed; the prerequisite to social change.

Goddard, because of its size and orientation, has given students the time and attention to find the focus to answer questions that few other places have even dared to entertain. In many ways it is issues such as these that make Goddard, Goddard. Questions of power, of politics, of race, of gender, of place. Questions about where one stands in the world, and how to move, act, interact in a world awash in complexity. Essentially how does a young person, or for that matter even an older one, looking at the vast wide world with a quiet sense of terror have a voice amidst that monstrous din? How does she find that voice that can create space to think? To be? To grow?

We know that it must come from the place within – that which moves you, that which stirs you. That which is your truest, deepest self. Goddard, unlike most such institutions of higher learning, quietly asks that you listen to and interrogate that voice, and when appropriate, amplify it. For who knows? Within that deepest you may dwell the very voice that is resonating within the nation if not the very world itself. Here social change and social transformation forms the raison d'etre of Goddard.

We need new questions for the world of the 21* century. But more importantly we need new answers. We live in a world where massive wars can be launched by rumors and innuendo. Where the material interests of

corporations are superior to the interests of working people, and remember – corporations are people - so sayeth the Supreme Court. Where the ecological threats to fresh water supplies, clean air, and the environment in American cities, pulls challenges that seem beyond arcane.

Did I not say that we need new thinking? The present social, political, ecological and global course is, to say the least, unsustainable. Perhaps some of you, new graduates of Goddard, will think up ways to forestall some of the challenges facing the living and generations unborn.

I noted earlier my reverie in the woods of Goddard that exquisite freshness and the wintery air, the nighttime respiration of hundreds of magnificent evergreen trees has refreshed my mind even when miles and decades away from Goddard's sweet cool earth. Our cities, built during the heights of the industrial age and now engulfed in post-industrial ennui badly need a greening. Areas should be set aside where children and mothers can breathe and remember air loaded with freshness delivered by green life, not air conditioned. Think of the myriad of problems that beset this land and strive to make it better. That's Dewey's vision, and Goddard's.

Let me say something that I've never said before. When I came to Goddard, I was intimidated. Although teachers and adults told me that I could do the work, I rarely believed them. I felt woefully unprepared. But guess what? Goddard gave me confidence and I never lost that feeling. When I returned to Goddard many years later, I was a man on Death Row, with a date to die. I was able to transfer credits from Continuing Education and my final paper utilized the writings of Franz Fanon and Ignacio Martín Baró, to examine the concepts of both in liberation psychology and liberation theology. Only at Goddard. Only at Goddard!

Goddard reawakened in me my love of learning. In my mind I left Death Row to travel to France, where Fanon studied psychiatry. And on to Blida hospital, north of Algiers, where he practiced and later joined the Algerian revolution. By studying Martín Baró, I traveled to El Salvador, where he worked as a priest and psychologist, teaching literacy to peasants when the nation groaned under military terror, supported by El Norte, the U.S. Empire. Who were these figures? Well, Fanon was born in the Caribbean Island Martinique, then a colony of France. When he witnessed the oppression of the Arabs in Algeria he felt compelled to join the revolution on the side of what he called 'the wretched of the earth.' Ignacio Martín Baró was among six Jesuit priests, a housekeeper and her daughter slain by the U.S. trained Atlacatl Battalion, a notorious Salvadoran death squad.

Goddard supported those "trips abroad," if only in the mind, and I thank the school and many of my friends and alums there immensely for opening a door closed for decades. Goddard allowed me to really study what interested and moved me – revolutionary movements, and through that doorway – history, psychology, politics, and of course economics. In one of the most repressive environments on earth, Death Row, Goddard